# Hamiltonian reconstruction as metric for variational studies

Kevin Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Samuel Lederer<sup>1</sup>, Kenny Choo<sup>2</sup>, Titus Neupert<sup>2</sup>, Giuseppe Carleo<sup>3</sup> and Eun-Ah Kim<sup>1</sup>

1 Laboratory of Atomic and Solid State Physics, Cornell University, 142 Sciences Drive, Ithaca NY 14853-2501, USA 2 Department of Physics, University of Zurich, Winterthurerstrasse 190, 8057 Zurich, Switzerland **3** Computational Quantum Science Laboratory, École polytechnique fédérale de Lausanne, Route Cantonale, 1015 Lausanne, Switzerland

## Abstract

Variational approaches are among the most powerful techniques to approximately solve quantum many-body problems. These encompass both variational states based on tensor or neural networks, and parameterized quantum circuits in variational quantum eigensolvers. However, self-consistent evaluation of the quality of variational wavefunctions is a notoriously hard task. Using a recently developed Hamiltonian reconstruction method, we propose a multi-faceted approach to evaluating the quality of neuralnetwork based wavefunctions. Specifically, we consider convolutional neural network (CNN) and restricted Boltzmann machine (RBM) states trained on a square lattice spin- $1/2 J_1 - J_2$  Heisenberg model. We find that the reconstructed Hamiltonians are typically less frustrated, and have easy-axis anisotropy near the high frustration point. In addition, the reconstructed Hamiltonians suppress quantum fluctuations in the large  $J_2$  limit. Our results highlight the critical importance of the wavefunction's symmetry. Moreover, the multi-faceted insight from the Hamiltonian reconstruction reveals that a variational wave function can fail to capture the true ground state through suppression of quantum fluctuations.

© O Copyright K. Zhang *et al.* This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. Published by the SciPost Foundation.

Received 23-02-2022 Accepted 05-07-2022 Published 23-09-2022 doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.13.3.063



# Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Hamiltonian reconstruction	3
3	Hamiltonian space and wavefunction space	4
4	Results	6
5	Conclusions	8
A	Neural network architectures and training	9

	A.1	Convolutional neural network	9		
	A.2	Restricted Boltzmann machine	10		
	A.3	Sign rotation and symmetrization	10		
	A.4	Consistency of optimization methods	11		
В	Hamiltonian reconstruction				
	B.1	Benchmarks	11		
	B.2	Monte Carlo sampling	11		
	B.3	Comparison with anisotropy measure	12		
	B.4	Spin-spin correlation functions of reconstructed Hamiltonians	12		
Re	feren	ces	14		

## 1 Introduction

The Hamiltonian is the defining object that governs the dynamics of a physical system. For a quantum mechanical system, it defines the Schrödinger equation to be solved to obtain the energy spectrum and the wavefunction. However, the approach of "exact diagonalization" is constrained to small system sizes due to the exponential growth of the Hilbert space upon increasing the system size. An alternative to exact diagonalization is the Quantum Monte Carlo technique using a stochastic approach to model the probability distribution associated with the thermal density matrix associated with a given Hamiltonian. These approaches, however, suffer from the sign-problem [1], which limits their applicability to a restricted class of Hamiltonians, or to high temperature properties only. These challenges motivated variational wavefunction approaches to start from many-body wave functions that are parameterized within a given functional form. In variational approaches, the Hamiltonian is referenced for optimizing the wavefunction within the chosen functional form (see the blue arrow in Figure 1). Since the resulting best wavefunction is constrained to lie within limited variational spaces such as tensor network states [2], neural network states [3, 4], and parametrized quantum circuits [5, 6] (see Figure 1), significant effort has been put into having sufficiently general variational classes that can capture the actual ground state. However, assessing how close a given variational parameterization is to the target ground state is, in general, a hard task.

At present, the standard metrics for assessing the quality of a wavefunction that cut across different variational forms are the energy and the energy variance. Reliance on these measurements, however, leaves the comparison between constructions a case-by-case trial exercise. Much needed are alternative metrics to assess the quality of a given variational state. Interestingly, recent works have proposed methods to reconstruct Hamiltonians from wavefunctions using measurements of correlators [7–9, 9–11] or single operator measurements [12, 13] (see the red arrow in Figure 1). These reconstruction processes have been tested on Hamiltonians with known exact solutions, but their applicability to challenging open problems has yet to be demonstrated.

In this Letter, we employ Hamiltonian reconstruction to investigate how frustration affects the bias (Figure 1) between reconstructed and target Hamiltonians for neural-network wavefunctions. We search for energy-minimizing wavefunctions in the space of convolutional neural network (CNN) and restricted Boltzmann machine (RBM) architectures, with the spin- $1/2 J_1-J_2$  Heisenberg model on a square lattice [4] as a target Hamiltonian. On this poster-child frustrated spin model, deep neural network-based wavefunctions have obtained highly



Figure 1: In a typical variational algorithm, a wavefunction is obtained through variational optimization within a given variational form such as CNN, RBM, tensor product state (TPS), or a parametrized quantum circuit (QC). In this work, we study CNN and RBM quantum states, marked with green stars. A blue arrow is shown to represent variational optimization of the CNN construction as an example. The Hamiltonian reconstruction works in the opposite direction to map a variational wavefunction to a Hamiltonian  $H[\{c_n\}]$  (red arrow). The bias between the original Hamiltonian and the reconstructed Hamiltonian (purple arrow) provides insight into the nature of the variational wavefunction.

accurate results for the  $J_1$ - $J_2$  model away from the high frustration point, showing the potential of these variational constructions. However, these same states showed limitations near  $J_2/J_1 = 0.5$ , which is the point of high frustration [4]. To probe features of these wavefunctions, we construct subspaces of Hamiltonians that accommodate different "deformations" of the target Hamiltonian. For each subspace, we use the reconstruction method to retrieve the Hamiltonian that best fits the trained wavefunction. We then discuss insights from the reconstruction.

### 2 Hamiltonian reconstruction

For our goal of assessing variational wavefunctions, we chose to implement the approach of Refs. [7, 8]. The procedure starts with the wavefunction of interest  $\Psi$ , which is energyoptimized within a given variational form. We then define the Hamiltonian subspace to be searched by a spanning set of operators  $\mathcal{O} \equiv \{O_i\}$ . Any Hamiltonian that is an element of this subspace, i.e.,  $H \in \mathcal{H}$ , can be expressed in the form

$$H[\{c_n\}] = \sum_{n=1}^{\dim(\{O_n\})} c_n O_n, \qquad (1)$$

where  $c_n$ 's are real parameters. The aim of reconstruction is to find the dim( $\{O_n\}$ )-dimensional vector  $\{c_n\}$  such that the wavefunction of interest  $|\Psi\rangle$  is most nearly an eigenstate of the corresponding Hamiltonian  $H[\{c_n\}]$ . For this, we construct the quantum covariance matrix Q associated with the wavefunction and the Hamiltonian subspace

$$Q[\Psi;\mathcal{H}]_{nm} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \langle O_n O_m \rangle + \langle O_m O_n \rangle \right) - \langle O_n \rangle \langle O_m \rangle, \qquad (2)$$

Sci Post

which is a dim( $\{O_n\}$ ) × dim( $\{O_n\}$ ) positive semi-definite matrix where expectation values are evaluated with respect to the wavefunction  $|\Psi\rangle$  (also see Figure 1). The number of expectation values to be measured for *Q* is quadratic in the number of operators dim( $\{O_n\}$ ), and therefore quadratic in the system size<sup>1</sup>.

Hamiltonians that correspond to eigenvectors of  $Q[\Psi; \mathcal{H}]$  with small eigenvalues would all accept  $|\Psi\rangle$  as an approximate eigenstate. To see this, note that the variance of the Hamiltonian  $H[\{c_n\}]$  in the state  $|\Psi\rangle$  is given by

$$\langle (\Delta H[\{c_n\}])^2 \rangle = \langle H[\{c_n\}]^2 \rangle - \langle H[\{c_n\}] \rangle^2$$

$$= \sum_{nm} c_n c_m \left( \langle O_n O_m \rangle - \langle O_n \rangle \langle O_m \rangle \right)$$

$$= \vec{c} \ ^T Q[\Psi; \mathcal{H}] \vec{c} .$$

$$(3)$$

By diagonalizing  $Q[\Psi; \mathcal{H}]$ , the Hamiltonians  $H[\{c_n\}]$  which have the lowest variance under  $|\Psi\rangle$  can be found, and the associated eigenvalues will be the variances of those Hamiltonians. If  $|\Psi\rangle$  is an exact ground state of the original parent Hamiltonian  $H^*$ , and  $H^*$  is within the Hamiltonian search space  $\mathcal{H}[\mathcal{O}]$ , then  $H^*$  will lie in the nullspace of  $Q[\Psi; \mathcal{H}]$ .

The expectation values of many-body operators in Eq. (2) need to be evaluated by performing high-dimensional integrals. Typically, these integrals can be approximated via Monte Carlo (MC) sampling, but we found that the Hamiltonian reconstruction is sensitive to noise in the correlation functions (see Appendix B.2). This sensitivity restricts the procedure to systems where the correlation functions can be evaluated accurately. Indeed, previous applications of Hamiltonian reconstruction [8, 14] have only treated well-understood states in which correlation functions can be evaluated exactly. In our case, this restricted our study to small system sizes in which the correlation functions could be evaluated explicitly.

The antiferromagnetic  $J_1$ - $J_2$  model for spin 1/2 [15, 16] is defined by the following Hamiltonian

$$H_{J_1J_2} \equiv J_1 \sum_{\langle ij \rangle} \vec{S}_i \cdot \vec{S}_j + J_2 \sum_{\langle \langle ij \rangle \rangle} \vec{S}_i \cdot \vec{S}_j , \qquad (4)$$

where  $\langle ij \rangle$  and  $\langle ij \rangle$  denote nearest and next-nearest neighbours respectively. We set  $J_1 = 1$ and consider antiferromagnetic interactions  $J_2 \ge 0$  for the 4×4 periodic 2D square lattice. The exact ground states of the Hamiltonian in the limits  $J_2 \ll J_1$  and  $J_2 \gg J_1$  are well understood, since geometric frustration is absent in both limits: the ground state is a Néel antiferromagnet for  $J_2 \ll J_1$  and a stripe antiferromagnet for  $J_2 \gg J_1$ . However, the nature of the ground state in the vicinity of the maximally frustrated point of  $J_2/J_1 = 0.5$  is the subject of much debate [17–26].

## 3 Hamiltonian space and wavefunction space

We consider three Hamiltonian subspaces that allow the reconstructed Hamiltonian to deviate from the target Hamiltonian Eq. (4) in physically meaningful ways. We chose the three two-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The number of local operators is linear in the system size, so the number of evaluated expectation values is quadratic. Also, the computational cost remains the same when assuming translation invariance and summing operators over the system, since dim( $\{O_n\}$ ) is smaller, but the total number of terms in the product  $\langle O_n O_m \rangle$  is larger to compensate.

Sci Post

operator parametrizations

$$H[\alpha] = H_{J_1J_2} + \alpha \left( \sum_{\langle i,j \rangle} S_i^z S_j^z + \frac{J_2}{J_1} \sum_{\langle \langle i,j \rangle \rangle} S_i^z S_j^z \right),$$
  

$$H[\delta J_2] = H_{J_1J_2} + \delta J_2 \sum_{\langle \langle i,j \rangle \rangle} \vec{S}_i \cdot \vec{S}_j,$$
  

$$H[J_3] = H_{J_1J_2} + J_3 \sum_{\langle i,j \rangle_3} \vec{S}_i \cdot \vec{S}_j,$$
(5)

where  $\alpha$  represents easy-axis anisotropy, and  $\delta J_2$  and  $J_3$  modify the next-nearest neighbor and longer range spin couplings. The coefficients of the original  $J_1$ - $J_2$  Hamiltonian are normalized to 1. For each possible two-dimensional Hamiltonian space, we constructed the matrix Qindependently, allowing us to study effects of individual perturbations. However, we found the results of higher-dimensional reconstructions allowing simultaneous perturbations of  $\alpha$ and  $\delta J_2$  to be consistent with those of individual reconstructions; see Results below. We specify technical details of the reconstruction quality in Appendix B.

Seeking further understanding of the challenges underlying the maximally frustrated point, we focus on neural network based wavefunctions that outperformed (i.e., had lower energy than) leading variational constructions, away from the high frustration point [4]. Neural networks can be universal approximators of complex functions [27, 28] and thus have the potential to allow more efficient exploration of the wavefunction space compared to traditional constructions [29]. The initial proposal of using restricted Boltzmann machines (RBM) to represent many-body wavefunctions [3] generated much excitement and spurred extensive investigations of RBM-based wavefunctions and their variants [26, 30–40]. More recently, Y. Levine et al, [41] showed that the more expressive convolutional neural network (CNN) architecture can encode volume-law entangled states more efficiently. Indeed, CNN wavefunctions improved on energy compared to state-of-the-art methods for the  $J_1$ - $J_2$  model, but only in the parameter regime away from the high frustration point of  $J_2/J_1 = 0.5$  [4].

In this work, we examine CNN and RBM many-body wavefunctions. Both architectures preserve the translational invariance of the system, and the wavefunctions were further symmetrized to respect time reversal and point group symmetries, i.e., translation and rotation. The wavefunctions were not symmetrized with respect to the SU(2) spin rotation symmetry of the Hamiltonian. Our restriction to the total  $S_z = 0$  sector entails a residual U(1) in-plane rotation symmetry, permitting easy-axis anisotropy in our trained wavefunctions. We trained wavefunctions for values of  $J_2$  ranging between 0 and 2, and their optimization was done using the NetKet package [42]. For implementation, training, and symmetrization details, see Appendix A.

We now present metrics for verifying the reconstructed Hamiltonians, focusing on the RBM wavefunctions for simplicity. By construction, the variance of the reconstructed Hamiltonian over the trial wavefunction must be less than or equal to the variance of the target Hamiltonian. In the highly frustrated region with significant reconstructed anisotropy  $\alpha$  for the  $H[\alpha, \delta J_2]$  parameter space (Figure 2(a)), we illustrate that the variance is improved by roughly 10% (Figure 2(b)) for values of  $\alpha$  of order 0.1. However, the energy variance should not be the only metric for assessing a given wavefunction. We next compare the overlap of the trial wavefunctions to the exact ground states of the original and reconstructed Hamiltonians, where overlap is defined as

$$\left|\left\langle \Psi_{exact} | \Psi_{var} \right\rangle\right|^2. \tag{6}$$

In the frustrated regime, the overlap of the trial state with the ground state of the reconstructed Hamiltonians is significantly higher than the overlap with that of the original Hamiltonian. These metrics demonstrate that the reconstructed Hamiltonians are better descriptors for the variational wavefunctions.



Figure 2: a) Reconstructed anisotropy  $\alpha$  for RBM wavefunctions in the parameter region around the high frustration point. b) A comparison of the energy variance  $\sigma^2 = \langle \Psi_{var} | \Delta H^2 | \Psi_{var} \rangle$  of original target Hamiltonian ( $H_0$ , blue line) to that of the reconstructed Hamiltonian in the space  $H[\delta J_2]$  ( $H_R$ , red line). c) Overlap of the variational states with the exact ground states of the reconstructed Hamiltonians ( $|\Psi_R\rangle$ ), compared with the overlap of the variational states with the exact ground states of the original Hamiltonians ( $|\Psi_0\rangle$ ).

### 4 Results

The conventional measure for a wavefunction's quality is its variational energy. The energies of our trained wavefunctions, compared to the exact ground state energies, are shown in Figure 3(a); the high frustration region around  $J_2 = 0.5$  is marked by a sharp peak in energy difference. The energy difference also remains large in the  $J_2 > 0.5$  regime. The non-trivial dependence of the energies on the  $J_2/J_1$  ratio implies multiple tendencies at play, yet no information is revealed about which factors affect the wavefunctions' performance for specific regions of parameter space. We therefore compare reconstruction results shown in Figure 3(b-d) to the variational energy to gain much needed insight.

The comparison between the reconstructed anisotropy  $\alpha$  and the energy difference reveals two important features. The anisotropy is sharply peaked near  $J_2/J_1 = 0.5$ , indicating that anisotropy may hold the key to solving the high frustration point. This reinforces the importance of enforcing spin rotation symmetry on the wavefunctions, as was suggested by the performance of SU(2) symmetric RBM wavefunctions for the 1D Heisenberg model [43]. However, the errors in energy away from the vicinity of  $J_2/J_1 = 0.5$  arise from different sources. Also, despite significant energy differences between the RBM and CNN wavefunctions at the peak, they are on par with each other in terms of anisotropy. While  $\alpha$  is consistent with a conventional measure of correlator anisotropy (see Appendix B.3), and is seemingly the most important barrier against solving the high frustration point, the comparison reveals that other factors might also be important.

The reconstructed interaction strengths  $\delta J_2$  and  $J_3$  present complementary information. They show deviations from the target Hamiltonian in two regions: near the high frustration point  $J_2/J_1 = 0.5$ , and the large  $J_2$  region (see Figure 3(c-d)). In the vicinity of the high



Figure 3: Various metrics for the CNN and RBM wavefunctions. The vertical broken line marks  $J_2/J_1 = 0.5$ , which is the high frustration point. a) Ground state energy difference (relative to exact ground state) per site. The shaded area is a guide to the eye that outlines the range in which the energy difference is attributable to the wavefunction anisotropy (see panel b). The unshaded energy difference in the large  $J_2$  regime is associated with errors in the reconstructed spin couplings, panels c and d. b) The reconstructed easy-axis anisotropy  $\alpha/J_1$ , which is peaked at the classical high frustration point and tapers off in the small  $J_2$  and large  $J_2$  limits. c) The reconstructed difference in the nearest-neighbor coupling,  $\delta J_2/J_1$ . The reconstructed deviates from 0 around  $J_2 = 0.5$ , as well as in the large  $J_2$  regime. d) The reconstructed longer-range interaction parameter  $J_3/J_1$ . Together with  $\delta J_2/J_1$ , these parameters are associated with the energy differences for large  $J_2$ .

frustration point,  $\delta J_2$  tends to avoid  $J_2/J_1 = 0.5$ . This is shown by negative  $\delta J_2$  below the high frustration point. In the large  $J_2$  region, both  $\delta J_2$  and  $J_3$  imply strengthening of the stripe order and reduction of quantum fluctuations. Specifically, positive  $\delta J_2$  and negative  $J_3$  would both favor classical stripe order as we show explicitly in Appendix B.4. Successful implementation of SU(2) symmetry would likely resolve these issues by reflecting the true quantum fluctuations in the state, which could be the subject of future work.

Finally, we present results for a multi-dimensional reconstruction space in Figure 4 that shows agreement with the two-dimensional reconstructions. This space is defined by

$$H[\delta J_2, \alpha] = H_{J_1 J_2} + \alpha \left( \sum_{\langle i, j \rangle} S_i^z S_j^z + \frac{J_2}{J_1} \sum_{\langle \langle i, j \rangle \rangle} S_i^z S_j^z \right) + \delta J_2 \sum_{\langle \langle i, j \rangle \rangle} \vec{S}_i \cdot \vec{S}_j .$$
(7)

Here we are allowing  $\delta J_2$  and  $\alpha$  to vary simultaneously<sup>2</sup>. Due to the larger dimensionality, the reconstructed Hamiltonians from this space will have lower variance than those obtained in two-dimensional reconstructions, and are therefore better parent Hamiltonians. Still, we find

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Including a  $J_3$  term resulted in large reconstructed values of the parameters that are inconsistent with the reconstructed Hamiltonian being near the target Hamiltonian. In other words, the reconstructed parameters could not be interpreted as small perturbations. Hence, we did not include  $J_3$  in the reconstruction.

that the results in Figure 4 are consistent with our results from individual two-dimensional spaces.



Figure 4: Results of the multidimensional reconstruction defined by Equation 7, with (a) reconstructed easy-axis anisotropy  $\alpha/J_1$  and (b) difference in the nearest-neighbor coupling,  $\delta J_2/J_1$ . The trends in the parameters are consistent with our one-dimensional reconstructions in Figure 3.

We have compiled the results for the two-dimensional reconstructions of  $\delta J_2$  and  $J_3$  into one plot, Figure 5, to present a birds-eye view of the results. This demonstrates the tendency of the reconstructions to "push away from" the high frustration point, as well as suppress quantum fluctuations via ferromagnetic  $J_3$  at large  $J_2$ . In other words, the reconstructions explaining the large energy differences for large  $J_2$  (Figure 3(a)) can be summarized as a general tendency to suppress quantum fluctuations.



Figure 5: Schematic summary of  $\delta J_2$  and  $J_3$  reconstructions of (a) RBM and (b) CNN wavefunctions. The two reconstructions were performed separately, but here we have combined the two sets of results into one figure. The markers represent initial  $J_2/J_1$  parameters for which we trained variational wavefunctions. The tips of the arrows show the *reconstructed* parameters, i.e.,  $(\delta J_2 + J_2)/J_1$  and  $J_3/J_1$ , with the deviations magnified by a factor of 5 for clarity. The annotations beside clipped arrows describe the locations of the arrowheads (upper:  $J_2/J_1$ , lower:  $J_3/J_1$ ).

## 5 Conclusions

We have proposed Hamiltonian reconstruction as a method to probe many-body variational wavefunctions beyond their energies. Taking on the  $J_1$ - $J_2$  model and two neural network variational wavefunctions, RBM and CNN, we investigated the Hamiltonian spaces parametrized by three channels of deviations from the target model:  $\alpha$ ,  $\delta J_2$ , and  $J_3$ . Our results dissect the  $J_2/J_1$  parameter space into two regimes: the regime dominated by frustration ( $J_2/J_1 \approx 0.5$ ) and the regime dominated by classical stripe order ( $J_2/J_1 > 0.5$ ). We found the anisotropy  $\alpha$ 

to be the dominant cause of error near the high-frustration point. Moreover, we found  $\delta J_2$  and  $J_3$  reconstruction to both indicate suppression of quantum fluctuation through artificial enhancement of classical order in the large  $J_2$  regime. Overall, the Hamiltonian reconstruction revealed multiple ways for a variational wavefunction to fail in capturing highly frustrated ground states steeped in quantum fluctuations.

Looking ahead, we expect that Hamiltonian reconstruction can be an effective means to refine variational constructions in both classical and quantum (such as variational quantum eigensolver) platforms. With this method, specific areas of improvement for variational wavefunctions can be identified, informing future selection of variational constructions. Exploring reconstructions from wavefunctions of larger systems might also reveal new insights. Further, our results concerning the  $J_1$ - $J_2$  model may serve as guidelines for designing future neural network wavefunctions of similar frustrated spin systems.

### Acknowledgements

KZ, SL, and E-AK acknowledge NSF, Institutes for Data-Intensive Research in Science and Engineering – Frameworks (OAC-19347141934714). KC and TN acknowledge the European Research Council under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program (ERC-StG-Neupert-757867-PARATOP).

## Appendix A Neural network architectures and training

In this section, we will explain how we constructed and trained our variational ansatze. First, we describe a basic neural network to motivate the more complex architectures that we used. Then, we explicitly construct the convolutional neural network (CNN) and restricted Boltzmann machine (RBM) architectures that we used in our study. Finally, we explain how we trained and symmetrized the wavefunctions.

One of the simplest examples of a neural network that can be used to parametrize a variational wavefunction is a single-layer perceptron. Although we did not use this architecture, it serves as an illustrative example of neural network wavefunctions in general. The single-layer perceptron consists of one transformation (known as a dense layer)

$$w_i(\{v_{i'}\}) = g\left(\sum_j W_{ij}v_j + b_i\right),\tag{8}$$

where *W* is a complex matrix of tunable parameters ("weights"),  $\vec{b}$  is a complex vector of tunable parameters ("biases"), and *g* represents a non-linear firing function. The wavefunction corresponding to this single-layer network is

$$\langle \{\sigma_i\} | \Psi \rangle = \sum_i w_i(\{\sigma_{i'}\}).$$
(9)

Generically, a multi-layer perceptron can be constructed by composing several of these "linear" layers. Examples of common algorithms used to optimize these constructions are stochastic gradient descent or Adam. In our training, we used stochastic gradient descent with a learning rate of 0.001.

#### A.1 Convolutional neural network

In a convolutional layer, both the input and output have an additional "channel" dimension on top of the spatial indices. Thus, each stage of intermediate values is a three-dimensional Sci Post

tensor, with one channel index and two spatial indices. The input values (spin configuration) are interpreted as just consisting of a single channel. A convolutional layer from N channels to M channels is given by

$$w_{m,(i,j)}(\{v_{n,i',j'}\}) = g\left(\sum_{n}^{N}\sum_{x=0}^{L-1}\sum_{y=0}^{L-1}K_{n,(x,y)}v_{n,(i+x,j+y)} + b_{m}\right),$$
(10)

where the indices of the output vector w are m for the channel, and (i, j) for the spatial position. The input vector v is similarly indexed. As with the dense layer,  $g(x) = \ln \cosh x$  is the nonlinearity. The K parameters are called the "kernel" of the transformation, and there is one kernel for each output channel. Each kernel is a L by L by N tensor of weights, which attempts to capture some spatially local feature of the input values. L is the size of the kernel. The construction of the convolutional layer is explicitly translationally invariant, which respects the symmetry of the periodic  $J_1$ - $J_2$  model we are solving. The full convolutional network is given by the composition of convolutional layers,

$$\langle \sigma_{x,y} | \Psi \rangle = \sum_{w,i,j} w_{m,(i,j)} \left( \{ v_{n,(i',j')} (...(\sigma_{x,y})) \} \right).$$
 (11)

The outputs of the final layer were summed to obtain the output of the network. The network we used consists of three convolutional layers, with channel counts 6, 4, 2, and kernel sizes 4, 4, 2, respectively, amounting to a total of 236 parameters.

### A.2 Restricted Boltzmann machine

The single-layer restricted Boltzmann machine is characterized by the wavefunction

$$\langle \{\sigma_i\} | \Psi \rangle = e^{\sum_i a_i \sigma_i} \prod_j^M \cosh\left(\sum_i W_{ij} \sigma_i + b_j\right), \tag{12}$$

where *M* represents the number of hidden nodes. We imposed the spatial symmetries of translation and rotation on the parameters  $a_i$ ,  $W_{ij}$ ,  $b_j$ , reducing the total number of free parameters by a factor of 16 (the size of the system). With a hidden node count of 160, this wavefunction has a total of 171 parameters.

#### A.3 Sign rotation and symmetrization

Since the successful optimization of wavefunctions depends on a sign structure being preimposed, the wavefunctions were rotated in-plane:

$$|\Psi\rangle \to \left(\bigotimes_{i \in A} e^{-i\pi\sigma_z^i/2}\right) |\Psi\rangle , \qquad (13)$$

where *A* denotes a subset of lattice sites corresponding to either Néel or stripe order (Figure 6). The Néel rotation was used for  $J_2 \le 0.5$  and the stripe rotation used otherwise.

Finally, to ensure that the final wavefunctions respect point group symmetries and time reversal, we used the same procedure as in [4]. For an Abelian symmetry *C*, with an irrep  $\Gamma$ , the (unnormalized) symmetrization of the wavefunction  $|\Psi\rangle$  under  $\Gamma$  is given by

$$|\Psi_S\rangle = \sum_{r=0}^{|C|-1} \omega^r c^r |\Psi\rangle , \qquad (14)$$

where  $\omega$  is the character of  $\Gamma$  and *c* is the generator of  $\Gamma$ . For the *C*<sub>4</sub> rotation group, there are four possible irreps with characters ±1 and ±*i*; for time reversal symmetry, there are two irreps with characters ±1. We chose the combination of representations that yielded the lowest ground state energy, and in all cases, the energy was lowest with the irrep with character 1 for both *C*<sub>4</sub> and *T*.

φ	¢	ф	¢	¢	φ	ф	¢
¢	¢	¢	φ	¢	φ	ф	¢
¢	¢	¢	¢	¢	φ	ф	¢
¢	ф	¢	φ	¢	φ	ф	¢
	(a)	)			(b)	)	

Figure 6: Diagrams of the classical spin structure, used for in-plane wavefunction rotation, for a) Néel and b) stripe order.

### A.4 Consistency of optimization methods

We trained both architectures using stochastic reconfiguration (SR). We evaluated the loss function (i.e., the variational energy) of the wavefunctions using two different methods: exactly evaluated energy, and also Monte Carlo sampled energy. We also performed training with different sign rotations at the high frustration point. The reconstruction results with these different optimization schemes did not significantly vary, suggesting that the reconstructed biases are unlikely to be optimization artifacts for the neural network architectures we considered.

# Appendix B Hamiltonian reconstruction

### **B.1** Benchmarks

With the exact ground state of the Heisenberg model ( $J_2 = 0$ ) obtained via exact diagonalization, Hamiltonian reconstruction indeed yields the correct Hamiltonian in all three subspaces we considered down to machine precision, as shown in Table 1. Because the exact ground state is used as the input state, reconstructions at any value of  $J_2$  will yield the original Hamiltonian.

Table 1: Benchmark reconstructions for wavefunctions obtained via exact diagonalization for the  $J_1$ - $J_2$  model in the limit  $J_2 = 0$ . In all cases, the reconstruction yields the original  $J_1$ - $J_2$  Hamiltonian to within machine precision.

$\mathcal{H}[\mathcal{O}]$	Reconstructed parameter
$H[\delta J_2]$	$\delta J_2 = -6.5 \times 10^{-15}$
$H[J_3]$	$J_3 = -3.18 \times 10^{-15}$
$H[\alpha]$	$\alpha = 3.73 \times 10^{-15}$

### **B.2** Monte Carlo sampling

Various methods can be used when evaluating the elements of the quantum covariance matrix. Here, we present results of Hamiltonian reconstruction using Monte Carlo sampling for correlation functions. The model in question is the same  $4 \times 4$  square lattice  $J_1$ - $J_2$  Heisenberg model, with  $J_2/J_1 = 0.5$ , i.e., the classical high frustration point. We only present results here for the reconstruction into the space  $H[\delta J_2]$  using the convolutional neural network wavefunction.



Figure 7: Results of Hamiltonian reconstruction using Monte Carlo sampling for operator correlation functions at  $J_2/J_1 = 0.5$ , into the space  $H[\delta J_2]$ . In all plots, the horizontal red line represents the true value as obtained through direct integration of the correlation functions. a) Correlation function  $\langle H_{J_1J_2} \sum_{\langle \langle i,j \rangle \rangle} \vec{S}_i \cdot \vec{S}_j \rangle$  as measured by Monte Carlo sampling. The error bars represent the standard deviation of the estimates for the correlation function. b) The reconstructed  $\delta J_2$  parameter, which converges slower than the previous correlation function. c) The variance of the variational wavefunction  $|\Psi\rangle$  under the reconstructed Hamiltonian. Here, the variance does not converge within the number of Monte Carlo samples that we used.

The reconstructed  $\delta J_2$  parameter showed a slower rate of convergence (Figure 7(b)) than that of the shown correlation function (Figure 7(a)) with the number of Monte Carlo samples. Further, the variance of the input wavefunction under the reconstructed wavefunction did not converge for the range of Monte Carlo samples that we used (Figure 7(c)). Considering these points, we chose for our study to restrict our analysis to correlation functions evaluated explicitly. As a result, we limited ourselves to systems small enough that they were amenable to exact diagonalization.

#### **B.3** Comparison with anisotropy measure

In this section, we show that the  $\alpha$  parameter is consistent with traditional measures of anisotropy. First, we present a "correlator anisotropy" measure, defined as

$$f(n) = 1 - \frac{\sum_{\langle ij \rangle_n} \left\langle S_i^z S_j^z \right\rangle}{\sum_{\langle ij \rangle_n} \frac{1}{2} \left\langle S_i^x S_j^x + S_i^y S_j^y \right\rangle},$$
(15)

where  $\langle ij \rangle_n$  represents a sum over *n*th nearest neighbors. As with the reconstructed  $\alpha$ , *f* is sharply peaked near the high frustration point. We present in Figure 8 the anisotropy *f* for various neighbor distances at  $J_2 = 0.55$ , which is where our reconstructed anisotropy  $\alpha$  was maximal. Although *f* and  $\alpha$  did not completely agree at other  $J_2$  values, at  $J_2 = 0.55$  they consistently suggest that the CNN wavefunctions' anisotropy is somewhat less than that of the RBM wavefunctions in similar fashions. We conclude that although they are not identical measures of anisotropy, they are in agreement where the anisotropy is peaked.

#### B.4 Spin-spin correlation functions of reconstructed Hamiltonians

Here we show how the spin-spin correlation functions support our conclusion that the variational wavefunctions are systematically less frustrated than the exact ground states. The spin-spin correlation function for wavevector q is defined as

$$S(\vec{q}) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i,j} e^{i\vec{q}\cdot(\vec{r}_i - \vec{r}_j)} \langle \vec{S}_i \cdot \vec{S}_j \rangle, \qquad (16)$$



Figure 8: Correlator anisotropy f (Equation 16) for RBM and CNN wavefunctions at various neighbor distances, at the point  $J_2 = 0.55$  where our reconstructed anisotropy was peaked. The RBM anisotropies being closer to 0 than the CNN points is consistent with our reconstructed anisotropy  $\alpha$ , where the CNN wavefunction performed slightly better than the RBM.



Figure 9: Spin-spin correlation functions of the exact ground state of  $J_1$ - $J_2$ - $J_3$  models. a)  $S(\pi, 0)$  for  $J_3 = 0$ , showing how the stripe order is enhanced with increasing  $J_2$ . b) Similarly, at  $J_2/J_1 = 1$ ,  $S(\pi, 0)$  is enhanced with increasing ferromagnetic  $J_3$ .

where N = 16 is the system size. The correlation function evaluated at  $\vec{q} = (\pi, \pi)$  is a measure for the strength of Néel order, while  $\vec{q} = (\pi, 0)$  measures the strength of stripe order.

First, we show how the reconstructed  $\delta J_2$ ,  $J_3$  parameters tend to push the states towards less frustration, as shown by the spin-spin correlation functions  $S(\vec{q})$  on the exact ground states of  $J_1$ - $J_2$ - $J_3$  models. As can be seen from Figure 9, an increase in the  $J_2$  parameter in the large  $J_2$  regime leads to enhanced stripe order (Figure 9(a)). Also, small negative values of  $J_3$ of similar magnitude to those reconstructed from our variational wavefunctions enhance the stripe order for states in the same regime (Figure 9(b)). The stripe order parameter here is the spin-spin correlation function with ordering vector ( $\pi$ , 0) or (0,  $\pi$ ). These observations show that a ferromagnetic  $J_3$  parameter, as well as positive  $\delta J_2$ , act to suppress quantum fluctuations and enhance the ground state order of the model in the large  $J_2$  regime.

Next, we directly show that the variational states themselves are less frustrated than the exact ground states. We compared  $S(\pi, 0)$  and  $S(\pi, \pi)$  between the CNN wavefunctions and the exact ground states. Figure 10 shows that Néel correlations of the variational wavefunctions are stronger when  $J_2/J_1 < 0.5$ , while stripe correlations are stronger when  $J_2/J_1 > 0.5$ .



Figure 10: Difference between spin-spin correlation functions of CNN wavefunctions and exact wavefunctions, as a function of  $J_2/J_1$ . The variational wavefunctions have systematically stronger correlations, and are therefore less frustrated than the exact solutions to the  $J_1$ - $J_2$  Hamiltonian.

Since strong correlation functions are associated with the  $J_2 \ll 1$  and  $J_2 \gg 1$  limits of the model, these results show that the variational wavefunctions tend to be less frustrated than their exact counterparts.

## References

- M. Troyer and U.-J. Wiese, Computational complexity and fundamental limitations to fermionic quantum Monte Carlo simulations, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94, 170201 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.94.170201.
- [2] F. Verstraete, V. Murg and J. I. Cirac, Matrix product states, projected entangled pair states, and variational renormalization group methods for quantum spin systems, Adv. Phys. 57, 143 (2008), doi:10.1080/14789940801912366.
- [3] G. Carleo and M. Troyer, *Solving the quantum many-body problem with artificial neural networks*, Science **355**, 602 (2017), doi:10.1126/science.aag2302.
- [4] K. Choo, T. Neupert and G. Carleo, *Two-dimensional frustrated*  $J_1-J_2$  model studied with neural network quantum states, Phys. Rev. B **100**, 125124 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.100.125124.
- [5] A. Peruzzo, J. McClean, P. Shadbolt, M.-H. Yung, X.-Q. Zhou, P. J. Love, A. Aspuru-Guzik and J. L. O'Brien, *A variational eigenvalue solver on a photonic quantum processor*, Nat. Commun. 5, 4213 (2014), doi:10.1038/ncomms5213.
- [6] J. R. McClean, J. Romero, R. Babbush and A. Aspuru-Guzik, *The theory of variational hybrid quantum-classical algorithms*, New J. Phys. **18**, 023023 (2016), doi:10.1088/1367-2630/18/2/023023.
- [7] X.-L. Qi and D. Ranard, *Determining a local Hamiltonian from a single eigenstate*, Quantum 3, 159 (2019), doi:10.22331/q-2019-07-08-159.

- [8] E. Chertkov and B. K. Clark, *Computational inverse method for constructing spaces of quantum models from wave functions*, Phys. Rev. X 8, 031029 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevX.8.031029.
- [9] E. Bairey, I. Arad and N. H. Lindner, *Learning a local Hamiltonian from local measurements*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122**, 020504 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.020504.
- [10] A. Valenti, E. van Nieuwenburg, S. Huber and E. Greplova, *Hamiltonian learn-ing for quantum error correction*, Phys. Rev. Research 1, 033092 (2019), doi:10.1103/physrevresearch.1.033092.
- [11] M. Greiter, V. Schnells and R. Thomale, *Method to identify parent Hamiltonians for trial states*, Phys. Rev. B 98, 081113 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.98.081113.
- [12] K. Pakrouski, Automatic design of Hamiltonians, Quantum 4, 315 (2020), doi:10.22331/q-2020-09-02-315.
- [13] X. Turkeshi and M. Dalmonte, Parent Hamiltonian reconstruction of Jastrow-Gutzwiller wavefunctions, SciPost Phys. 8, 042 (2020), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.8.3.042.
- [14] M. Dupont and N. Laflorencie, Many-body localization as a large family of localized ground states, Phys. Rev. B 99, 020202 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.99.020202.
- [15] E. Dagotto and A. Moreo, Phase diagram of the frustrated spin-1/2 Heisenberg antiferromagnet in 2 dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 63, 2148 (1989), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.63.2148.
- [16] H. J. Schulz and T. A. L. Ziman, Finite-size scaling for the two-dimensional frustrated quantum Heisenberg antiferromagnet, Europhys. Lett. 18, 355 (1992), doi:10.1209/0295-5075/18/4/013.
- [17] W.-J. Hu, F. Becca, A. Parola and S. Sorella, Direct evidence for a gapless  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  spin liquid by frustrating Néel antiferromagnetism, Phys. Rev. B **88**, 060402 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.88.060402.
- [18] S.-S. Gong, W. Zhu, D. N. Sheng, O. I. Motrunich and M. P. A. Fisher, Plaquette ordered phase and quantum phase diagram in the spin-<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> J<sub>1</sub>-J<sub>2</sub> square Heisenberg model, Phys. Rev. Lett. **113**, 027201 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.027201.
- [19] H.-C. Jiang, H. Yao and L. Balents, Spin liquid ground state of the spin- $\frac{1}{2}$  square  $J_1$ - $J_2$ Heisenberg model, Phys. Rev. B **86**, 024424 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.86.024424.
- [20] S. Sachdev and R. N. Bhatt, Bond-operator representation of quantum spins: Mean-field theory of frustrated quantum Heisenberg antiferromagnets, Phys. Rev. B 41, 9323 (1990), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.41.9323.
- [21] M. Mambrini, A. Läuchli, D. Poilblanc and F. Mila, Plaquette valence-bond crystal in the frustrated Heisenberg quantum antiferromagnet on the square lattice, Phys. Rev. B 74, 144422 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.74.144422.
- [22] F. Mezzacapo, Ground-state phase diagram of the quantum  $J_1 J_2$  >model on the square lattice, Phys. Rev. B **86**, 045115 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.86.045115.
- [23] J.-F. Yu and Y.-J. Kao,  $Spin-\frac{1}{2}$   $J_1$ - $J_2$  Heisenberg antiferromagnet on a square lattice: A plaquette renormalized tensor network study, Phys. Rev. B **85**, 094407 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.85.094407.

- [24] L. Wang and A. W. Sandvik, *Critical level crossings and gapless spin liquid in the squarelattice spin-1/2 J*<sub>1</sub> – *J*<sub>2</sub> *Heisenberg antiferromagnet*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **121**, 107202 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.107202.
- [25] F. Ferrari and F. Becca, Gapless spin liquid and valence-bond solid in the J<sub>1</sub>-J<sub>2</sub> Heisenberg model on the square lattice: Insights from singlet and triplet excitations, Phys. Rev. B 102, 014417 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.102.014417.
- [26] Y. Nomura and M. Imada, Dirac-type nodal spin liquid revealed by refined quantum manybody solver using neural-network wave function, correlation ratio, and level spectroscopy, Phys. Rev. X 11, 031034 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevX.11.031034.
- [27] G. Cybenko, Approximation by superpositions of a sigmoidal function, Math. Control Signal Systems 2, 303 (1989), doi:10.1007/BF02551274.
- [28] C. Bishop, *Neural networks for pattern recognition*, Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK, ISBN 9780198538646 (1995).
- [29] D.-L. Deng, X. Li and S. Das Sarma, Quantum entanglement in neural network states, Phys. Rev. X 7, 021021 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevX.7.021021.
- [30] Y. Nomura, A. S. Darmawan, Y. Yamaji and M. Imada, *Restricted Boltzmann machine learning for solving strongly correlated quantum systems*, Phys. Rev. B 96, 205152 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.96.205152.
- [31] G. Carleo, Y. Nomura and M. Imada, Constructing exact representations of quantum many-body systems with deep neural networks, Nat. Commun. 9, 5322 (2018), doi:10.1038/s41467-018-07520-3.
- [32] J. Chen, S. Cheng, H. Xie, L. Wang and T. Xiang, Equivalence of restricted Boltzmann machines and tensor network states, Phys. Rev. B 97, 085104 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.97.085104.
- [33] I. Glasser, N. Pancotti, M. August, I. D. Rodriguez and J. Ignacio Cirac, *Neural-network quantum states, string-bond states, and chiral topological states*, Phys. Rev. X 8, 011006 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevX.8.011006.
- [34] H. Saito and M. Kato, Machine learning technique to find quantum many-body ground states of bosons on a lattice, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 87, 014001 (2018), doi:10.7566/JPSJ.87.014001.
- [35] K. Choo, G. Carleo, N. Regnault and T. Neupert, Symmetries and many-body excitations with neural-network quantum states, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 167204 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.167204.
- [36] D. Kochkov and B. K. Clark, Variational optimization in the AI era: Computational graph states and supervised wave-function optimization, arXiv:1811.12423.
- [37] D. Luo and B. K. Clark, Backflow transformations via neural networks for quantum many-body wave functions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122, 226401 (2019), doi:10.1103/physrevlett.122.226401.
- [38] L. Pastori, R. Kaubruegger and J. Carl Budich, Generalized transfer matrix states from artificial neural networks, Phys. Rev. B 99, 165123 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.99.165123.

- [39] O. Sharir, Y. Levine, N. Wies, G. Carleo and A. Shashua, Deep autoregressive models for the efficient variational simulation of many-body quantum systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124, 020503 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.124.020503.
- [40] X. Gao and L.-M. Duan, Efficient representation of quantum many-body states with deep neural networks, Nat. Commun. 8, 662 (2017), doi:10.1038/s41467-017-00705-2.
- [41] Y. Levine, O. Sharir, N. Cohen and A. Shashua, *Quantum entanglement in deep learning architectures*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122**, 065301 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.065301.
- [42] G. Carleo et al., NetKet: A machine learning toolkit for many-body quantum systems, SoftwareX 10, 100311 (2019), doi:10.1016/j.softx.2019.100311.
- [43] T. Vieijra, C. Casert, J. Nys, W. De Neve, J. Haegeman, J. Ryckebusch and F. Verstraete, *Restricted Boltzmann machines for quantum states with non-Abelian or anyonic symmetries*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **124**, 097201 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.124.097201.